ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. The circuit court erred in preliminarily enjoining Senate Bill 1 of the 2016 Legislative 

Session ("the Act") because Respondents cannot show a likelihood of success, or even a 

substantial question, on the merits of their claims, Respondents have failed to show any 

irreparable harm. and both the State and the public will be irreparably harmed by the injunction. 

II. The circuit court erred by issuing an injunction that would govern non-parties who 

received no notice of this proceeding in violation of federal and state due process guarantees. 

INTRODUCTION 

Petitioners Attorney General Patrick Morrisey and the State of West Virginia 

(collectively, "the State") respectfully request that this Court vacate the circuit court's order 

preliminarily enjoining enforcement of Senate Bill I of the 2016 Legislation Session ("the Act"), 

the State's right-to-work law known in part as the Workplace Freedom Act. For the reasons 

below, Respondents are unlikely to succeed on the merits of their legal challenges and the 

balance of equities weighs in favor of vacating the injunction. 

State right-to-work laws have long been an integral part of this Nation's system of labor 

relations. For over eighty years, federal law has provided a highly-regulated framework in which 

unions can operate subject to certain terms and conditions designed to respect the rights of 

employees and employers in union elections and labor negotiations. Under this framework, 

unions face choices about how best to organize that come with both costs and benefits. For 

example, unions may eject to represent only members or they may elect to represent all 

employees in a bargaining unit, including nonmembers. Unions that take the latter approach 

obtain the valuable right to act as the exclusive agent of the unit in negotiations with 

management. But federal law also imposes certain costs and potential costs on exclusive agency 



unions: such unions are obliged to treat members and nonmembers fairly, and they face the 

possibility that a state will exercise its reserved discretion under federal law to enact a right-to

work law, prohibiting agreements that would compel nonmembers to join an exclusive agency 

union or subsidize the union's activities. 

The State Legislature in 2016 exercised its reserved authority under federal labor law to 

enact a right-to-work law. Senate Bill I, which ensures that employees cannot be compelled to 

join a union or pay agency fees to subsidize union activities on pain of losing their employment. 

furthers West Virginia's substantial interests in vindicating its citizens' rights to free association. 

Like every other state right-to-work law, West Virginia's law is specifically permitted by 29 

U .S.C. § I 64(b ), which provides that federal law does not "authoriz[ e) the execution or 

application of agreements requiring membership in a labor organization as a condition of 

employment in any State or Territory in which such execution or application is prohibited by 

State or Territorial law." Of the 28 right-to-work laws in the country, see supra n.l. only West 

Virginia's is currently enjoined. I 

In this suit, Respondents have not challenged the longstanding federal regime that 

permits state right-to-work laws. Rather. Respondents claim that the Act impermissibly compels 

unions to provide services to nonmembers without compensation and thus takes their property 

and violates their rights to free association and due process in purported violation of the West 

Virginia Constitution. But Respondent's underlying premise is false: The Act does not require 

Two of those right-to-work laws have been enated since the passage of the Act. Kentucky'S 
right-to-work law is now in effect. See Ky. Rev. State. § 336.130(3)(a); 2017 Kentucky Laws 
Ch. I (HBl) §14. Missouri's right-to-work law will become effective on August 28, 2017. See 
Senate Bill No. 19, 99th Missouri General Assembly, First Regular Session 2017, § 290.590(2), 
(7)(5) available at www.senate.mo.goveIl7info/pdf-bill/tatlSBI9.pdf; Current Bill Summary, 
Senate Bill 19, www.senate.mo.govI17info/BTS_ WeblBill.aspx?SessionType=R&Bi1l1D 
=57095277. 
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anything from unions. It is federal law, which Respondents do not challenge, and Respondents' 

own volun/Gl)} choice to take advantage of the benefits of organizing as exclusive agency unions 

that imposes the duty of fairly representing nonmembers, whether or not fees can be collected 

from those nonmembers under state law. Because the Act does not impose the burdens that 

Respondents challenge, their claims must fail for that reason alone. 

Even if state law could somehow be deemed responsible for compelling Respondents to 

provide services to nonmembers, it would still raise no constitutional concerns. Federal and state 

appellate courts have rejected takings claims in contexts where, as here, an organization has 

voluntarily entered a highly-regulated industry that imposes certain obligations and potential 

obligations as the cost of doing business. Also, because the Act restricts at most the right of 

unions to collect prospective fees under hypothetical future collective bargaining agreements, 

Respondents can point to no cognizable property interest for their takings claims. And in 

upholding similar right-to-work laws, the U.S. Supreme Court has held that a union's right to 

associate does not extend to the right to compel a nonmember employee to support the union's 

activities. 

The circuit court erred in issuing a preliminary injunction. As a threshold matter, the 

circuit court erroneously applied a relaxed standard to conclude that injunctive relief was 

appropriate because Respondents had raised serious constitutional questions. In any event, 

injunctive relief would be inappropriate under any standard: Respondents have neither raised 

serious constitutional questions nor, under the correct standard, are they likely to succed on their 

claims. The court likewise erred in balancing the equities in Respondents' favor, when delay in 

this law's enforcement will impair the State's vital interest in protecting its citizens from 

compelled association. Finally, the circuit court erred in purporting to issue a statewide 
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injunction against enforcement of the Act when only one county prosecutor had been served and 

had an opportunity to appear. 

This Court should vacate the preliminary injunction. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Respondents have obtained a preliminary injunction of the Act based on various theories 

that all depend on the same incorrect premises: (1) that West Virginia is somehow coercing 

unions to offer services to nonmembers and (2) that unions are constitutionally entitled to agency 

fees as compensation for those services. Both premises are wrong and cannot be squared with 

federal or state law. 

First, a union's decision to represent nonmembers is a voluntary choice that federal labor 

law has afforded unions since the New Deal era. Under federal law. unions may either represent 

only members (a "members-only" union) or represent all employees within a particular 

bargaining unit, including nonmembers (an "exclusive agency" union). See 29 U.S.C. § 159(a); 

W. Va. Code § 21-IA-5(a); Zoeller v. Sweeney. 19 N.E.3d 749, 753 (Ind. 2014). These options 

each come with costs and benefits under federal law that unions must weigh when determining 

whether and how to organize. 

Second, among the known costs of choosing to be an exclusive agency union is that 

federal law expressly authorizes States like West Virginia to enact laws (like the Act) that restrict 

the ability of an exclusive agency union to require employees to join the union or subsidize its 

activities. Federal law specificalIy states that it shall not "be construed as authorizing the 

execution or application of agreements requiring membership in a labor organization as a 

condition of employment in any State or Territory in which such execution or application is 

prohibited by State or Territorial law." 29 U.S.C. § 164(b). This law is consistent with U.S. 
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Supreme Court precedent holding that "unions have no constitutional entitlement to the fees of 

nonmember-employees." Knox v. Servo Emps. lnt'l Union, Local 1000, 567 U.S. 298, _, 132 S. 

Ct. 2277, 2291 (2012) (quoting Davenport V. Washington Educ. Ass'n, 551 U.S. 177, 185 

(2007). 

These provisions of federal law provide the basic legal framework in which unions have 

operated for decades, and Respondents do not challenge it. Rather, Respondents ignore 

inconvenient aspects of federal law and chaJlenge only the Act. But the Act merely does what is 

expressly contemplated and permitted by federal law: It limits the ability of unions that have 

chosen to be exclusive agency unions to force nonmembers to pay fees. It does not require any 

unions to provide services to anyone that the union has 110t chosen to serve, nor does it deprive 

unions of any compensation to which they are legally entitled. 

I. Legal Background 

A. Unions exist under a highly reticulated legal regime. Both federal and state law 

provide that employees have the right to "bargain collectively through representatives of their 

own choosing." 29 U.S.C. § 157; see also W. Va. Code § 21-IA-3. In seeking to represent a 

group of employees, unions may choose to organize as either an exclusive agency union or a 

members-only union. That choice bears certain costs and benefits. 

With respect to exclusive agency unions, federal law confers a "set of powers and 

benefits." Sweeney V. Pence, 767 F.3d 654, 666 (7th Cir. 2014). An exclusive agency union acts 

as the sole representative of employees-whether members or non-members-"in respect to 

rates of pay, wages, hours of employment. or other conditions of employment." 29 U.S.c. 

§ 159(a). And federal law requ;res employers to bargain in good faith with an exclusive agency 

union. 29 U.S.c. § 158(a)(5). (b )(3). 
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These federally-created powers "result[] in a tremendous increase in the power of the 

representative group-the union." Am. Commc'n Ass'n v. Doud, 339 U.S. 382, 401 (1950). An 

exclusive agency union wields power "comparable to those possessed by a legislative body both 

to create and restrict the rights of those whom it represents." Steele v. Loui.','Ville & N.R. Co .. 323 

U.S. 192, 202 (1944). That power extends even to the ability to set the terms and conditions of 

employment of workers within the bargaining unit who opt not to become union members. See 

Wallace Corp. v. NLRE, 323 U.S. 248, 255 (1955). 

These benefits, however, also carry costs. Because federal law provides enonnous power 

to unions to act on behalf of the employees they represent, federal law imposes a statutory duty 

to represent all employees fairly--even nonmembers. See int 'I Ass 'n ofMachinists v. Street, 367 

U.S. 740, 761 (1961); see also Vaca v. Sipes, 386 U.S. 17 L 177 (1967); United Steelworkers of 

Am., AFL-CiO-CLC v. Ralvson, 495 U.S. 362, 373 (1990). The U.S. Supreme Court has 

explained that if the law conferred the power of exclusive representation "without any 

commensurate statutory duty toward its members, constitutional questions arise." Steele, 323 

U.S. at 198. Accordingly, since the dawn of federal labor law, exclusive agency unions have 

accepted the duty of fair representation as a statutory responsibility in exchange for the benefits 

that come with exclusive representation.2 

Unions are not required to use an exclusive agency model and assume the duty of fair 

representation. To form an exclusive agency union, a "majority of employees" in a bargaining 

. unit must designate a union as a representative. 29 U.S.c. § I 59(a); W. Va. Code § 21-lA-5(a). 

2 This Court has not yet interpreted a similar provision of state law to determine whether it also 
includes a duty of fair representation. See W. Va. Code § 21-1 A-5(a). In any event, to the extent 
that state law can be interpreted to impose a duty of fair representation, it would be entirely 
derivative of the imposition of the duty of fair representation under the federal National Labor 
Relations Act. See W. Va. Code § 21-1 A-I (c). 
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But a union's decision to stand for election as an exclusive agent is voluntary. 29 C.F.R. 

§ 102.61. And even after election, a union may cease to act as exclusive representative at any 

time "by unequivocally and in good faith disclaiming further interest in representing the unit." 

Dycus v. NLRB, 615 F.2d 820. 826 (9th eir. 1980). 

A union can decide instead that it wishes to represent only members and thus forgo both 

the benefits and costs of exclusive agency. '«Members only' contracts" that allow a union to 

represent only members "have long been recognized." Retail Clerks lnt '/ Ass'll v. Lion Dry 

Goods, 369 U.S. 17,29 (1962). Respondents themselves acknowledge this option and understand 

that it would require foregoing the substantial benefits conferred by federal law on unions that 

choose the responsibilities of exclusive agency. App. 185. Respondents suggest that 110 union 

would want to make this tradeoff, App. 185-86. but they do 110t deny that the choice to accept 

the duty of fair representation in exchange for acting as a bargaining unit's exclusive 

representative exists under federal law. 

B. One additional potential cost of exclusive agency is that federal law reserves to the 

States the power to prohibit contracts that require employees to be "members[]" of exclusive 

agency unions on pain of losing their jobs. Federal law allows employers to enter into "an 

agreement with a lahor organization ... to require as a condition of employment membership 

therein:' 29 U.S.c. § 158(a)(3). But federal law also allows that such agreements may be 

"prohibited by State ... law." 29 U.S.c. § 164(b). In other words, although federal law permits 

private "agency-shop arrangements," "States retain the power ... to ban ... such agreements." 

Davenport, 551 U.S. at 190 n.3. 

This reserved power allows States not only to prohibit contracts requiring employees to 

join an exclusive agency union, but also those that require employees to subsizdize such unions. 
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Under U.S. Supreme Court precedent, the term "membership" in these provisions includes any 

requirement to pay agency fees to support a union's activities. The phrase '''[m]embership' as a 

condition of employment" in 29 U.S.c. § I 58(a)(3), which permits agency-shop arrangements, 

has been "whittled down to its financial core." NLRB v. Gen. Motors Corp., 373 U.S. 734, 742 

(I 963). This "financial core" includes payments "germane to colIective bargaining, contract 

administration, and grievance adjustment." Commc 'n Workers ofAm. v. Beck, 487 U.S. 735, 745 

(1988). And the U.S. Supreme Court has recognized that this term "membership" should have 

the same meaning under 29 U.S.c. § I64(b), which authorizes States to forbid agency-shop 

arrangements through right-to-work laws like the Act. See Retail Clerks Jnt '/ Ass 'n v. 

Schermerhorn. 373 U.S. 746, 751 (1963). 

The legislative history of the 1947 Taft-Hartley Act, which clarified the reserved 

authority of the States to ban compulsory union membership, confirms this broad understanding 

of "membership" to include all compulsory fees. At the time, a number of States already had 

right-to-work laws that prohibited all compulsory fees. Sweeney, 767 F.3d at 662. "The House 

report listed each state which had passed a right-to-work law or constitutional provision" that 

Taft-Hartley was intended to affirm. Jnt '/ Union of the United ASS'1/ of Journeyman and 

Apprentices ofthe Plumbing and Pipefitting Indus. of the u.s. and Canada, Locals Unions Nos. 

141,229, 681 and 706 v. NLRB, 675 F.2d 1257, 1260 (D.C. Cir. 1982). Congress was "well 

aware" that seven of those twelve state laws included explicit bans on compulsory fees, and "the 

stated purpose of [28 U.S.c. § I 64(b)] was to preserve the efficacy of laws like these-statutes 

that allowed states to place restrictions oftheir choosing on union security agreements, including 

restrictions on whether employees could be compelled to pay dues or fees of any kind to a 

union." Sweeney, 767 F.3d at 662, 663. 
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Thus, "a union's status as exclusive bargaining agent and the right to collect an agency 

fee from nonmembers are not inextricably linked." Harris v. Quinn, 134 S. Ct. 2618, 2622 

(2014). Under federal law. States can decide whether to allow employers and unions to negotiate 

for provisions that would compel nonmember employees to pay agency fees. When unions adopt 

an exclusive agency model, they do so knowing that certain States may limit their ability to 

collect fees from nonmembers, notwithstanding that federal law requires as an unwaivable 

condition of exclusive agency that such unions represent both members and nonmembers fairly. 

II. Senate Bill 1 of the 2016 Legislative Session 

Consistent with federal law, the West Virginia Legislature passed Senate Bill 1, now 

codified as West Virginia Code §§ 21-IA-3, 21-1A-4 and 21-5G-l to -7, on February 5, 2016 

("the Act"). After the Governor vetoed the Act, the Legislature overrode the veto on February 

12, 2016. The Act applies only to any agreement entered, modified, renewed, or extended after 

July 1. 2016. W. Va. Code § 21-5G-7(b). 

The Act codifies a number of protections for employees in a new article of the West 

Virginia Code, entitled the West Virginia Workplace Freedom Act. W. Va. Code Chapter 21, 

Article 5G. The Workplace Freedom Act provides that a person may not be required to 

"[b ]ecome or remain a member of a labor organization; [p Jay any dues, fee, assessments or other 

similar charges, however denominated, of any kind or amount to any labor organization; or [play 

any charity or third party, in lieu of those payments, any amount that is equivalent to a pro rata 

portion of dues, fees, assessments or other charges required of members of a labor organization." 

W. Va. Code § 21-5G-2. The Act also bars H[a ]ny agreement, understanding or practice ... 

between any labor organization and an employer ... which provides for the exclusion from 

employment of any person because of membership in, affiliation with, resignation from or 
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refusal to join or affiliate with any labor organization," and provides both civil and criminal 

penalties for noncompliance. W. Va. Code §§ 21-5G-3, 4.5. 

The Act also amended the preexisting Labor-Management Relations Act for the Private 

Sector to provide similar protections for a right not to pay compulsory union fees. See W. Va. 

Code § 21-1 A-3. These amendments also make it an unHlir labor practice for a labor organization 

to interfere with the exercise of this right. W. Va. Code § 21-1A-4(b)(I).3 A violation of these 

protections may be enforced through the courts. W. Va. Code § 21-1 A-7(b). 

These provisions of the Act are consistent with similar provisions in the majority of right

to-work laws across the country.4 

III. Respondents' Suit and Preliminary Injunction Proceedings 

Respondents-several organized labor organizations and a purported member of one such 

organization-filed a complaint challenging the Act on June 27,2016, only days before its July I 

effective date. App. 44--60. Respondents sought statewide injunctive relief, but the only 

prosecuting attorney that Reponsdents served was the Kanawha County Prosecuting Attorney, as 

a purported representative of the class of prosecuting attorneys. App. 51, 84. Along with their 

3 Legislation has been introduced to amend the Workplace Freedom Act in two respects. Senate 
Bill 330, 2017 Regular Session. available at http://www.legis.state.wv.uslBill_Text_HTMLI 
2017 _SESSIONS/RS/bills/sb330%20intr.pdf. This Bill would omit a definition of the word 
"State" from the Act that is not at issue in this litigation and would omit the rule of interpretation 
related to the construction and building industries on which Respondents have relied to argue 
that they are exempt from the Act. Jd. The Bill includes language that provides that the changes 
made "shall be applied retroactively." Id. A note on the Bill clarifies that the purpose of the Bill 
includes "to repeal provisions relating to the statutory construction of the act." Id. Should the BlII 
become law, it would moot Respondents' argument addressed in Part J.D. of this brief. 

4 See Ala. Code § 25-7-34; Ark. Code § 11-3-303; Ga. Code § 34-6-22; Idaho Code § 44-2003; 
Indiana Code § 22-6-6-8; Iowa Code § 731.4; 23 La. Rev. Stat. § 983; Mich. Compo Laws § 
423.]4; Miss. Code § 7]-]-47(d); Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-217; N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 95-81-95-82; 
Okla. Const. Art. 23, § I A(B); S.c. Code § 41-7-30; Tenn. Code § 50-1-203; 3 Tex. Labor Code 
§ 101.111; Va. Code § 40.1-62; Utah Code § 34-34-10; Wis. Stat. 111.04(3)(a); Wyo. Stat. § 27
7-111. 
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complaint, Respondents tiled a motion for a preliminary injunction. App. 61-82. In support of 

their motion, Respondents claimed that the Act infringes on their liberty and freedom of 

association and takes property without just compensation in violation of the West Virginia 

Constitution. See App. 69-80. Respondents argued too that the Act should not be applied to

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