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

law confers on an exclusive agent." AG's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for 

Preliminary Injunction at 4. The union's "choice" that the AG puts forth is essentially that 

6 That reality no doubt provides one reason why member-only contracts do not exist. App. 242-25 (PI Tr. 
35-38). 
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between functioning as a union and rejecting the reason for its existence. 

A union, of course, does have "choices." It can decide to cease existence, in which case 

SB I would have no effect on it or its members. Or, as the AG suggests, the union .could decide 

to forego its raison d'efre - to bargain collectively with an employer on behalf ofworkers. It 

would choose that option if it did not seek certification as the exclusive bargaining representative 

for a bargaining unit and represent only union members. Selection of that "choice" would 

tenninate the union's ability to bargain with the employer because, without NLRB certification 

as a majority representative, the employer would have no duty to bargain with the union. In the 

absence of a legally imposed duty to bargain, private sector employers do not negotiate with 

unions. A third option, ofcourse, is to maintain its existence and to do what unions do by 

acquiring NLRB certification as a majority representative and thereby attaining status as the 

exclusive bargaining representative for the bargaining unit. Then, and only then, can it 

meaningfully negotiate on behalf of the unit's workers. 

That the unions have a choice to exist or not, however, matters not to the plaintiffs' 

claims in this case. Property owners always have choices about whether to acquire, dispose ot: or 

keep property. David Lucas was not forced to spend close to a million dollars on beach front 

property in South Carolina, but once he purchased the property, the Constitution protected his 

investment from governmental actions that would deprive it ofvalue. Lucas v. South Carolina 

Coastal Council, 505 U.S. 1003 (1992). The Pennsylvania Coal Company had a choice not to 

purchase mineral rights in the anthracite coal region ofPennsylvania, but after it did, government 

could not enact laws preventing it from realizing its investment. Pennsylvania Coal Company v. 

Mahon, 260 U.S. 393 (1922). Similarly, as the AG notes, unions have a choice not to assume the 

mantel of exclusive bargaining representative, but once they do, they cannot, consistently with 
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Article III, § 9, be forced to expend their services and resources on behalf of individuals who do 

not pay for them. Jevl'ellv. Maynard, 181 W. Va. 571, 383 S.E.2d 536 (1989); State ex reI. 

Partain v. Oakley, 159 W. Va. 805,227 S.E.2d 314 (1976); Part III, infra. 

Nor does the existence of a "choice" make a difference on plaintiffs' associational and 

liberty claims. Justice Hohnes famously wrote, in upholding a rule limiting police officers' 

political activities, "The petitioner may have a constitutional right to talk politics, but he has no 

constitutional right to be a policeman .... The servant cannot complain, as he takes the 

employment on the tenns which are offered him." McAuliffe v. Mayor ofNew Bedford, 155 

Mass. 216,29 N.E. 517 (1892). See also Adler v. Board ofEducation, 342 U.S. 485, 492 (1952) 

(public employment may be conditioned upon the surrender of constitutional rights; public 

employees "are at liberty to retain their beliefs and associations and go elsewhere"). That concept 

- that a public benefit may be conditioned on the surrender of an individual's constitutional rights 

(the "right-privilege doctrine") - "has [now] been unifonnly rejected." Keyishian v. Board of 

Regents, 385 U.S. 589,606 (1967), quoting Keyishian v. Board ofRegents, 345 F.2d 236, 239 

(2°d Cir. 1965). "[O]ur modem unconstitutional conditions doctrine holds that government may 

not deny a benefit to a person on a basis that infringes his constitutionally protected ... freedom 

of speech even if he has no entitlement to that benefit." Board ofCounty Commissioners, 

Wabaunsee County, Kansas v. Umbehr, 518 U.S. 668, 674 (1996), quoting Peny v. Sindermann, 

405 U.S. 593,597 (1972). "For if the government could deny a benefit to a person because ofhis 

constitutionally protected speech or associations, his exercise of those freedoms would in effect 

be penalized and inhibited. This would allow the government to 'produce a result which (it) 

could not command directly." Id., quoting Speiser v. Randall, 357 U.S. 513,526 (1958) (internal 

quotation marks omitted); accord, e.g., Agency for Inte771,ational Development v. Alliancefor 
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Open Society International, Inc., _ U.S. _, _, 133 S.Ct. 2321, 2328 (2013); Keyishian, 

supra. In each ofthese cases, the Court struck down a condition limiting speech or associational 

rights that the state had attached as a prerequisite to the receipt or maintenance ofsome public 

benefit. 

S.B. 1 does precisely that. In order for a union to do what unions do and negotiate and 

administer collective bargaining agreements on behalf ofworkers, it must obtain NLRB 

certification as a majority union and then, under NLRA § 9 assume exclusive responsibility for 

the bargaining unit, satisfy the duty of fair representation, and provide effective services to all 

members of the bargaining unit. S.B. 1 then adds as a condition, with criminal and civil 

penalties for noncompliance, that the union cannot enter into any agreement assessing a fee on 

members of the collective bargaining unit who, essentially, do not want to pay for the union's 

contract services. As explained above in Part II, that condition severely burdens the union's 

associational rights and those of its members. The fee ban imposes an unconstitutional condition 

on the exercise of associational rights. Agencyfor Inte17wtional Development, supra. And it does 

not matter that the union was neither required to seek, nor entitled to, the benefit of exclusivity. 

Finally, the petitioners' "choice" contention is irrelevant to this appeal because all of the 

plaintiff unions in this case are serving as certified collective bargaining representatives in their 

respective workplaces. Thus, as applied to the respondent unions and those who are the 

constituent union members ofthe AFL-CIO and ACT, the Workplace Freedom Act will impose 

a major burden on their associational and due process rights and will work an unconstitutional 

taking of their property. So, even if there were unions (and there are not) who collectively 

bargain with employers without NLRB certification and who represent only their members in the 

process, and who would thus not be affected by the Act, the unions in this case are affected. The 
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Court must assess the statute as it applies to the parties before it. 

VI. 	 WEST VIRGINIA DOES NOT HAVE A LEGITIMATE INTEREST IN 
PROTECTING NONMEMBERS OF A UNION FROM HAVING TO PAY AGENCY 
FEES. 

Respondents do not dispute that the State has legitimate interests in protecting workers 

in their decision whether to join a union or not. There is a right not to associate, just as there is 

a right to associate. E.g., Boy Scouts ofAmerica v. Dale, 540 U.S. 640 (2000). Respondents 

further concede that unions cannot compel bargaining unit members to help pay for the 

union's expression that it engages in outside the negotiation and administration ofthe 

collective bargaining agreement. In fact, the union is constitutionally barred from doing so. 

E.g., Beck v. Communications Workers ofAmerica, 487 U.S. 735 (1989); Chicago Teachers 

Union v. Hudson, 475 U.S. 292 (1986). The AG contends, however, that the State can go 

further and also prevent the imposition of agency fees. According to the AG, "the State has an 

interest in protecting employees from being compelled to associate with a union through the 

payment ofagency fees." Petitioners' Briefat 27. These contentions misunderstand federal 

labor law and misstate petitioners' case. 

As explained above, the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA) establishes a 

comprehensive and delicately balanced scheme for facilitating workplace democracy, 

advancing the plight of workers, and promoting industrial peace while also respecting 

employer investments. E.g., 29 U.S.C. § 151; National Labor Relations Board v. Jones 

&Laughlin Steel Company, 301 U.S. 1 (1937); see Part V, supra. A cornerstone of that 

structure is the bestowal in § 9 of the Act, 29 U.S.c. § 159, of exclusive bargaining status on 

unions bargaining status on unions who receive the support of a majority ofbargaining unit 

members and are certified as such by the NLRB. When that status is achieved, employers must 
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bargain in good faith with the union over workplace conditions, pay, and benefits. 

An exclusive representative "is clothed with power not unlike that of a legislature 

which is subject to constitutional limitations on its power to deny, restrict, destroy or 

discriminate against the rights of those for whom it legislates." Steele v. Louisville & 

Nashville Railroad Co., 323 U.S. 192, 198 (1944). As a consequence of that grant ofpower, 

the Supreme Court in Steele held that, for the grant to be constitutional, it must be 

circumscribed by the duty of fair representation. Essentially, that duty imposes equal 

-
protection limitations on unions (prohibiting them from engaging in invidious or arbitrary 

discrimination), e.g., Vaca v. Sipes, 386 U.S. 171 (1967), and quite possibly due process 

strictures, as well. See Robert M. Bastress, Jr., Application ofa Constitutionally-Based Duty of 

Fair Representation to Union Hiring Halls, 82 W. VA. L. REV. 31 (1979).7 

Any unionized workplace thus has to be based on a collective majoritarian decision by 

a bargaining unit's members. They get to decide in a supervised election whether they want to 

be represented by a union and by which one. Unit members also get to vote on whether to 

approve any contract that the union negotiates. The dissenting members' rights are subsumed 

for the sake of collective bargaining leverage, and § 9 at once puts them under the aegis of the 

union's exclusive bargaining status and protects them from discrimination. The union, in turn, 

is governed by democratic procedures that provide for the election ofunion officers and the 

participation of members in the governance process. 

7 The Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure Act of 1959,29 U.S.C. §§ 401, et seq., provides 
additional protections for workers and promoting union democracy. Its provisions are only 
tangentially relevant to this case. 
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All of this explains why, while the State has legitimate interests in protecting workers 

from being forced to help pay for a union's outside speech or to join or participate in a union, 

the State does not have an interest in shielding a worker from paying agency fees for the 

union's work on his behalf, even if the worker disagrees with what the union is doing. In a 

democracy, we the voters elect our govemments, but even if our candidates and parties lose, 

and we disagree with the policies of those in power, we must -- upon pain of criminal 

conviction if we do not -- still support their programs with our taxes. We can voice our 

criticism, and are protected by the freedom ofspeech in doing so, but we must still pay the 

govemment for its services through our taxes and fees. E.g., National Federation of 

Independent Business v. Sibelius, 567 U.S. 519 (2012); Johanns v. Livestock Marketing 

Association, 544 U.S. 550 (2005). Our remedy is to win the next election and put other 

individuals or parties in power who are better aligned with our thinking. That is the way 

majoritarian rule works. 

A unionized workplace democracy operates in the same way. Bargaining unit members 

vote on whether they want a particular union to represent them. If a majority votes for a union, 

then the NLRB certifies it as the exclusive bargaining agent, 29 U.S.C. § 159, and the minority 

- those members who voted against the union - are bound by what their exclusive bargaining 

agent - their "legislature," Steele, supra - negotiates. The dissenters remain free to express their 

criticism and to join with others in their opposition and are protected in doing so. 29 U.S.C. §§ 

157, 158(b)(l), and 41 l(a)(2). The State, however, has no interest in shielding them from the 

responsibility for paying their fair share for the contract services provided by the union, whom 

the majority of the bargaining unit has elected. The dissenters' remedies do not include 

refusing to pay their "taxes" for their governmental services. Rather, their remedies are to 
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petition for decertification (after one year) and to win the ensuing election or to join the union 

and use the union's intemal democratic processes to try to change the union's direction and 

policies. 


It's a democracy. 


VII. 	 DAVENPORT V WASHINGTON EDUCATION ASSOCIATION DOES NOT DEFEAT 
RESPONDENTS' CLAlMS. 

The AG quotes Davenport v. Washington Education Association, 551 U.S. 177, 185 

(2007), as saying "that unions have no constitutional entitlement to the fees ofnomnember

employees." Petitioners' Briefat 26. The quotation is accurate, but when it is read in its context, 

its meaning is quite different from its unadomed quotation. 

Davenport unanimously sustained against a First Amendment challenge a Washington 

statute that required public-sector labor unions to receive express authorization from a 

nonmember before spending that nonmember's agency shop fees for election-related purposes. 

(Respondents have no quarrel with any state restriction on unions' use of fees for noncontractual 

purposes.) The reference to "the fees ofnomnembers" in the quote that the AG relies on referred 

to that portion of the fees allocable to election-related spending. That conclusion is made 

abundantly clear by the sentence that follows the quote: "We have never suggested that the First 

Amendment is implicated whenever govemments place limitations on a union's entitlement to 

agency fees above and beyond what Aboorf and Hudson require." 551 U.S. at 185 (emphasis 

added). What Abood and Beck require, of course, are fees to cover the costs ofcontract 

administration and negotiation, fees that will prevent the free rider problem that SB 1 creates. 

Hence, when Davenport is read in its appropriate context, the case actually supports 

Respondents' argument that the State cannot force unions to carry free-riders; Abood and Beck 

S Abood v. Detroit Board ofEducation, 431 U.S. 209,97 S.Ct. 1782,52 L.Ed. 261 (1977) 
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"require" that unions be able to assess agency fees to the extent the fees pay for contract services. 

VIII. 	 FEDERAL LAW DOES NOT PREEMPT THE WEST VIRGINIA CONSTITUTION'S 

INVALIDATION OF SB 1. 


The amicus brief of the National Right to Work Legal Defense and Education Foundation 

and the National Federation ofIndependent Business Small Business Legal Center argues that, if 

the Court ruled for the plaintiffs and decided that the West Virginia Constitution invalidates SB 

1, such interpretation would be in conflict with federal law and would therefore be preempted by 

virtue of the Supremacy Clause in Article VI of the United States Constitution. See BriefAmicus 

Curiae at 7-10. The argument fails. 

The effect of a ruling invalidating SB 1 would permit unions and management to agree 

that all members ofa collective bargaining should be assessed for the union's costs ofcontract 

negotiation and enforcement. That could hardly be in conflict with federal law when it is 

expressly authorized by the NLRA. Section 8(a)(3) of that Act expressly provides "[t]hat 

nothing in this subchapter, or in any other statute of the United States, shall preclude an 

employer from making an agreement with a labor organization (l~Ot established, maintained. or 

assisted by any action defined in tlus subsection as an unfair labor practice) to require as a 

condition of employ1nent membership therein on or after the thirtieth day following the 

begullling of such employment or the effective date of such agreement." A state law saying that 

management and labor can agree to assess bargaining U1ut members with a fee Call1lot be said to 

be in conflict with § 8(a)(3). The section specifically says that federal law shall not be construed 

to preclude union shops. Case law has held that such agreements cannot go further than 

reqUITUlg the payment of agency fees - fees to pay for those costs ulcurred by the union Ul 

negotiating and administering a collective bargaining agreement. E.g., Beck v. Communications 

JVorkers, supra; Hudson, supra. Thus, a rululg for the plaultiffs Ul this case would be precisely 
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what § 8(a)(3) authorizes. Section 14(b) of the Act allows the states to qualify the 8(a)(3) 

proviso, but has no preemptive effect on the plaintiffs' constitutional claims. 

NLRE v. North DakoTa, 504 F. Supp. 2d 750 (D.N.D. 2007), upon \vhich amici rely heavily, 

is not to the contrary and, if anything, suggests that the WFA is preempted, not the West Virginia 

Constitution. (Respondents have not argued that federal law preempts the \VF A. There is 

therefore no need to address the issue. BUT see SH'eel1~V 1'. Pence, supra (Woods, C.L dissenting).) 

NOlth Dakota is a right to work state, and the North Dakota court considered whether a statute that

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